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Prio r to the  D issolution of the 
M onasteries in  the 16th century, 

any caring for the sick and poor was 
seen prim arily  as the task for religious 
houses. Whilst a series of Poor Laws 
thereafter provided a last resort for the 
sick, poor and aged, local benefactors 
also provided re lie f and  som e left 
bequests to benefit the unfortunate. 
This article considers how individuals 
in  Dover have done th is over the  
centuries, either by  leaving m oney and 
investm ents to the m ayor and council 
and other trustees to adm inister or to 
church  au tho rities - som etim es on 
condition  th a t th e ir  graves and 
m em orials w ere m ain ta ined . Not 
su rp rising ly  for a seaport, the  
beneficiaries were often poor widows of 
m arin ers  drow ned at sea. The 
in fo rm ation  com es from  H asted 's 
History o f Kent, Caring for Dover's Poor 
by  Derek Leach, The Dover Society 
Newsletter 61 and from some copies of 
St. M ary's Church docum ents in  the 
possession of the late Joe H arm an.

Dover Municipal Charities
The origins of the Dover A lm shouse 
Fund go back to at least the  16th 
cen tury  w hen the traditional role of the 
religious houses of giving some help to 
the sick and poor was rem oved by the 
Dissolution. An alm shouse was founded 
adm inistered by  the Mayor and others.

Various benefactors over the centuries 
ensured its continuance and expansion. 
The Dover A lm shouse Fund and  a 
num ber of old Dover charities were 
m erged  into the  Dover M unicipal 
C harities during  the  19th cen tury . 
Included were the Gorely Almshouses, 
the Jam es Neild Charity, the Jonathan  
O sborn Charity, the  C oronation 
Pensions Charity, the A nn Booth and 
M ark Wills for Poor Widows Charity, the 
Gilham Gift, the H enry  M atson Charity, 
the H ugesson 's Charity, the George 
Crowhurst Rubie Pension Charity, the 
N eedle C harity  and  the  W illiam 
Burchfield Charity. Dover's Battle of 
Britain M emorial Fund was added after 
the Second World War and the Grigg 
Christm as Boot Gift Charity in  1998. 
Details of some are given below.

Hugesson's Charity
By deed dated 20th Septem ber 1633, 
Jam es H ugesson gave £150 to the  
corporation, the in terest to be applied at 
M ichaelmas in  every year, to 'placing 
forth two or three good m ale children' 
as apprentices. From 1701 £3 every year 
was distributed equally am ong six poor 
widows of Freem en. Each received this 
for life. The am ount was paid for some 
years out of the Borough Fund to the 
A lm shouse C harity  Trustees. The 
reason for the alteration in  the charity is 
unknow n.
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Ann Booth & Mark Wills Charity
Ann Booth in h er will of 1664 gave £100 
w hich was invested in  land and the 
incom e of £13. 5s divided am ongst six 
poor widows. Mark Wills in 1721 left 
certain lands w ith the profit going to six 
poor widows each of w hom  received £2 
a year. The charity was at one tim e 
adm in iste red  by  'M essrs. Fector, 
G unm an and others'.

James Neild Charity
U nder a trust deed in 1810, Jam es Neild 
transferred  £800 of stock. The dividends 
were to be distributed in  bread am ongst 
debtors in Dover Castle Prison and in 
procuring their discharge. W hen this 
prison was abolished the charity was 
m erged w ith the A lm shouse Charity.

Jonathan Osborn Charity
Jonathan  Osborn, m ayor in 1816, in  his 
will of 1819, directed the Corporation to 
invest £100 in  stock and to divide the 
dividends am ong paupers of St. Mary's 
Parish poorhouse - six m en and six 
wom en. W hen the new  Dover Union 
W orkhouse opened  in  1836 and St. 
Mary's Poorhouse closed the incom e 
was transferred  to the Dover Alm shouse 
Fund.

Gorely Homes
In 1877 Mrs Susan Gorely paid for ten  
alm shouses to be b u ilt ju s t below  
Cowgate Cem etery. The tenan ts were 
also given 3s. 6d a week. She was the 
wife of Charles Gorely who had a farm  
in Ladywell. Park Street was laid out on 
part of the land in 1861. He died in  1874 
and she in  1880. Dr. Astley who died, 
aged 95, in 1907 left £14,000 to the 
Gorely Almshouses. H enry Hobday of

Buckland Paper Mill provided further 
funds to extend the hom es in 1921.

William Burchfield Charity
William Burchfield gave £2,000 of stock 
in  1883 w ith the incom e to be paid to six 
'decayed' i.e. im poverished tradesm en 
of Dover, elected by the corporation for 
life.

Battle o f Britain Homes
The Battle of Britain Homes, off York 
Street, w ere funded  from  m oney  
orig inally  ra ised  to provide a new  
hosp ita l for Dover possibly at 
C astlem ount, b u t th is never 
m aterialised  w ith the arrival of the 
National H ealth Service in 1948. In 1955 
the High Court ru led that the £34,000 
collected  could be used  for som e 
charitable purpose. Eventually it was 
decided to build  alm shouses to replace 
those w hich were to be dem olished in  
York Street. The Battle of Britain Hom es 
were built and the tenants of the York 
Street alm shouses m oved into them  in 
1964.

Today, the M unicipal Charities of Dover 
own a substantial num ber of properties 
in  the town, w hich produce incom e to 
m aintain  their m odern 'alm shouses' - 
not those of yore, m ost of w hich were 
destroyed during the Second World War 
- b u t the  Battle of Britain Hom es, 
Albany House built in 1993 and the 
original Gorely Homes.

St. Mary the Virgin Dover 
Parochial Charities
The various charities of St. Mary's and 
St. Jam es's churches tha t benefited  the 
poor (num bered 1 to 31 below) were 
incorporated into a schem e for their



35

regu la tion  by  the  C harity  
Com m issioners in  1956. The schem e 
was called the St. M ary the Virgin Dover 
Parochial C harities and the area of 
benefit was the Borough of Dover. The 
schem e was m anaged by trustees - the 
Vicar of St. Mary's being ex-officio plus 
a rep resen ta tive  of Dover Borough 
Council and three co-opted trustees. 
T he first co-opted tru s tees  w ere 
Beatrice Black, Charles Hawkins and 
Mabel Egan. The Trustees were allowed 
to appoint a clerk and to pay h im  (yes, 
him ) 'such reasonable salary as they 
th ink  fit'.

The charities num bered 1 to 12 and 21 
to 27 were grouped together as Charities 
for the Poor and those num bered  13 to 
20 and 28 to 31 becam e Charities for 
Widows.

The Trustees were allowed to spend up 
to £5 a year toward the upkeep of St. 
M ary's churchyard  and  the  tom bs 
w ithin the church, w hilst the incom e 
from the Thom as Beane Charity had to 
be used for the upkeep of the tom b of 
Jan e  Byron and o thers in  Old St. 
Jam es's Church.

The rem ainder of the incom e from the 
Charities of the Poor could be spent for 
the benefit of the poor in  a num ber of 
ways: gifts of bedding, clothing, food, 
fuel, furniture etc., including aids for 
the sick; a weekly allowance of not less 
than  2s. 6d or m ore than  10s.; m oney to 
relieve sickness, infirm ity or distress; 
grants for the sick or infirm  in need  of 
rest or change of air to pay for a 
convalescent holiday or dom estic help; 
travelling  expenses for hosp ital 
appointm ents or relatives visiting at 
hospital; assistance to help any poor

person  tra in  to earn  th e ir  living; 
subscrip tions to a lm shouses etc., 
subscriptions to residential hom es or 
hostels for the old, infirm  or hom eless. 
In addition up to £28 15s. a year could 
be spen t assisting any  fem ale 
dep en d an t of any  seafaring m an  
drow ned at sea.

Incom e from the Charities for Widows 
could be spent as the Trustees thought 
fit along the lines of the Charities for 
the Poor.

In 1949 m oney, coal and bread were 
still being distributed. In 1974 £330 was 
distributed in  total including £25 to a 
housing association and £25 to Age 
Concern. The balance of £280 w ent 
responding to various requests. The 
annual accounts for 1978 show ed 
paym ents of £314 including £100 to 
Dover Old People's Com m unity Centre 
Trust, £40 to St. Mary's School Welfare 
Fund and various paym ents totalling 
£174.

These ancient charities came to an end 
in  1998 w hen  the  C harity  
Com m issioners approved the winding- 
up  of St. M ary the  Virgin Dover 
Parochial C harities and  the 
disbursem ent of its assets, valued at 
£12,000, to o ther local charities. Age 
Concern and the Gorely Hom es were 
am ongst the beneficiaries.

St. Mary's Parish
1. Thom as Pepper, ju ra t of Dover and 
four tim es mayor, in  his will of 1574, 
gave an annuity  of 40s to be distributed 
equally  be tw een  the  poor of the  
parishes of our Lady of Dover and 
H ougham , being  incom e from  his 
m anor of Syberston in  H ougham .
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Originally the m oney was distributed as 
sixpenny loaves.
2. Thom as Ellwood, m ayor in 1592, in 
his will of 1605, gave an annuity  of 20s. 
to be paid from the ren t of a house in 
Cannon Street for distribution in  bread 
to the poor of St. Mary's parish on 
Christm as Eve.
3. Thom as Challice, in  his will of 1614, 
gave an annuity  of 10s. to be paid from 
the ren t of The Three Horse Shoes, an 
inn  in Biggin Street, la ter renam ed The 
Saracen's Head, w hich was pulled down 
in 1896 for road widening. It was to be 
distributed in bread to the poor of the 
parish on St. Jam es's Day.
4. Jacob Winsor, gentlem an of Dover, 
by  his will in  1669, gave his eight 
tenem ents, 'in the new  buildings in 
Dover' near the N orth Pier, to eight 
poor, aged people of the parish to live in 
or to be ren ted  out by  the Mayor and 
Jurats, and the rents given to the poor; 
but, according to H asted in 1800, 'these 
tenem ents having been  suffered to fall 
to ruin, are lost to the poor for ever'. He 
also gave 24s. a year , being ren t from 
two houses in  Bench Street, to be given 
as bread to the poor of the parish at the 
door of the church on Christm as Eve. 
The houses were later dem olished by 
the Corporation w hich paid 24s. a year 
to the charity in com pensation.
5. N icholas Cullen, four tim es mayor, 
in his will of 1696 gave a cottage w ith 
the ren t to be distributed in bread; bu t 
in 1800 H asted recorded tha t 'a poor 
widow now lives in  it ren t free'. The 
cottage becam e 8 and 9 Mill Lane, 
w hich were destroyed by  enem y action 
during  the  Second World War. The 
charity received £44 19s. War Damage 
com pensation.

6. W illiam  Richards, in his 1701 will, 
gave £5 a year from the incom e of 
Coombe Farm. It was to be given to the 
poor in bread on Christm as Day, New 
Year's Day, Lady Day, E aster Day, 
W hitsun Day, M idsum m er Day and on 
the first Sunday every m onth. It is 
am azing how  far £5 could stretch in 
those days!
7. Joh n  Dekewer, by his will of 1760, 
gave the sum  of £500 and from the 
in terest 4s. was to be distributed every 
Sunday after church to the poor of the 
parish; any surplus was to buy coal for 
handing out on Christm as Eve. The first 
priority, however, for the charity was to 
m ain ta in  the  tom b of B enjam in 
Devinke, including painting it every 
eight years. Dekewer was D evinke's 
executor and Devinke in his will had 
given £100 toward a parsonage in 1756 
provided his tomb was kept in repair. 
John  Dekewer honoured this condition 
in his own will.
8. Susannah H am m ond, in  h er will 
proven in  1770, gave the sum  of £60 and 
the annual incom e of £2. 8s. was to be 
d istributed as bread to the poor on New 
Year's Day.
9. Thom as B oykett in his will of 1791, 
left stock to yield £5 a year for bread  for 
the poor.
10. W illiam  Burchfield by his will 
proven in  1889 bequested  investm ents 
(£280 stock and £250 Defence Bonds in 
1956) to the Vicar and Churchw ardens 
requiring them  to use the incom e each 
year at their discretion to benefit the 
poor of the parish.
11. W illiam  C olem an in  h is will 
proven in 1911 left stock (£415 in 1956) 
w ith the incom e to be used for the relief 
of the poor and sick at the discretion of
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the Vicar and Churchw ardens - The 
Colem an Charity. This is quite separate 
from the Richard Colem an Charity.
12. Peter Fector, in his will proven in  
1814, left £100 stock w ith the dividends 
to be given in  equal shares at Christm as 
to 12 old people of the  parish , 
preferably seam en's widows.
13. Thom as W hite, twice mayor, by 
his will of 1669, gave an annuity  of £2 
from house ren t to be given to four poor 
widows of the parish.
14. N icholas Cullen, by his will of 
1696, gave a house and  land  on 
Victualling Quay (later Admiralty Yard) 
w ith the annual incom e to be distributed 
every New Year’s Day to 20 poor widows 
of the parish, am ounting to 13s each. 
A pparently , w hen  the  house was 
dem olished for harbour developm ent 
the incom e was lost. Philip Papillon, 
who died in 1719, added to this Cullen 
Charity by donating the ren t of £7 a year 
from  43 acres of land  n ea r Lydd 
m ortgaged by  Nicholas Cullen. This 
mortgage was eventually paid off and 
becam e the freehold property of the 
charity w hich was then  sold and the 
m oney invested. With the increase in 
incom e from 1781 the 20 poor widows 
each received £6. 10s. In  1901 the 
Charity  Com m issioners reduced  the 
num ber of widows benefiting to 10.
15. A n n  Jell, by h er will proven in 
1735, gave an annuity  of 40s. from 
house ren t for d istribution on New 
Year's Day to eight poor widows of the 
parish not receiving charity already.
16. Thom as K nott, by his will of 1777, 
gave an annuity  of 20s from the ren t of
1 New Bridge, to be distributed to the 40 
poorest widows on St. Thom as's day. 
This was done in  the form of a 6d loaf.

17. R ebecca Saure, by h er will of 1808, 
b eq u ea th ed  £400 stock w ith  the 
dividends to be spent every two years 
repairing her husband's tomb and any 
surplus in  the purchase of coals for 10 
poor widows.
18. J o h n  H am m on d , in  his will 
proven in  1824, bequeathed  £100 stock 
with the incom e to be given to six poor 
widows on 17 March, subject to a 
deduction for upkeep of his grave every
12 years.
19. Thom as Pattenden, the Dover 
diarist, died in  1817 leaving £850 stock 
w ith  the  div idends to be used 
m ain ta in ing  the  headstones of his 
family grave and to use the rem ainder 
each half year am ong the m ost recent 
six poor widows (not possessing m ore 
than  £100 in property), whose husbands 
had been  drowned. He kindly included 
5s to be paid each half year to the Vicar 
and Churchw ardens for adm inistering 
the charity. By 1926 there had been  no 
applicants for a long tim e and the 
Charity Com m issioners decreed that in 
future incom e should be distributed 
first to not m ore than  six widows of 
drow ned sailors, bu t if there were none 
th e n  to six daughters of seafaring 
fathers drow ned at sea and, if none, to 
any  widows w hose husbands had  
drowned.
20. Edward P h illips by his will proven 
in 1844 bequeathed  £400 to provide 
incom e for coal and w arm  clothing to be 
given each year on Christm as Eve to ten  
poor widows whose husbands had been  
lost at sea or otherwise to other old 
widows.
21. George F inch died in 1828, leaving 
£100 stock w ith the dividends to be 
given to the poor in  bread.
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St James's Parish
22. Thom as Dawke, shipwright, left 
£50 in 1703 w ith the in terest to be spent 
on bread distributed annually  to the 
poor of St. Jam es's Parish.
23. Thom as Beane, m ayor in 1749, in 
h is will dated  1764, le ft £200 in  
governm ent stock and directed part of 
the dividends be used for repairing the 
tomb of Jane Byron and Clem ent Buck 
at Old St. Jam es' C hurch and  the 
rem ainder spent on bread for the poor.
24. Dam e Susannah B ooth died in 
1822 and left h er m oney to the poor of 
four parishes that she was acquainted 
w ith, including  St Jam es' w hich 
received £477 in  bank  stock. St. Mary's 
was an o th e r of the  parishes th a t 
benefited . D ividends w ere to be 
distributed to the poor at Christmas. She 
had visited Dover occasionally and lived 
here for a tim e and was buried  in  Old St. 
Jam es' Churchyard. The charity was 
founded in m em ory of h er daughter, 
Penelope, who had died w hen six years 
old.
25. A lfred Joseph  B ushell by his will 
proven in 1902 gave £100 to be invested 
for the poor subject to m aintenance of 
his grave and those of his children.
26. Martha M ansfield  by h e r will 
proven in 1903 gave £20 for the poor of 
the parish subject to upkeep of her 
grave.
27. Peter Fector, the banker who died 
in  1814, bequeathed  £200 of shares plus 
and £100 for the relief of needy seam en 
w ith the in terest to be divided am ong 12 
old people preferably seam en's widows.
28. George A therden, in  his will of 
1875 m ade in  Australia, bequeathed  
£1,000 to provide m oney once a year for 
five poor widows. These paym ents were

to be m ade for life un less th ey  
m isbehaved or left St. Jam es's Parish.
29. A n n ie Fariah O'Brien, in  h er will 
proven in 1927, left £100 for the Rector 
to invest and to give away as m uch 
incom e 'as he thinks proper during the 
life of King George V and his issue then  
living and the survivors of them  plus 21 
years after the death of such survivors 
keep ing  the  grave of h e r  husband , 
herself and h er parents in order and 
putting a cross of flowers on it twice a 
year'. Any balance was to be given to 
poor widows at Christmas.
30. Edward P h illip s , by  his will 
proven in  1844, bequeathed  £400 to 
provide incom e for coal and w arm  
clothing to be given each y ear on 
Christm as Eve to ten  poor widows of St. 
Jam es' parish  w hose husbands had  
been  lost at sea or otherwise to other 
old widows.
31. Elizabeth New m an Igglesden in
her will proven in  1875 left £650 stock 
w ith incom e to be given on 1 January  
each year to six poor widows aged over 
65, preferably seam en's widows.

Other bequests for the benefit o f 
the poor
There were m any other bequests for the 
benefit of the poor not included in  the 
Dover M unicipal Charities or St. Mary's 
Parochial Charities schemes, including:

George Bing, (or B ynge) m ayor of 
Dover four times, by  his will dated 1604, 
gave to the  churchw ardens and 
overseers of St. M ary's parish  an 
annuity  of 20s. to be paid out of his 
house in  the town and to be distributed 
on Christm as Day to the poorest people 
of the parish.
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John H ew son, by will in 1692, gave 
£20, the in terest to be yearly given to 
poor widows of th is parish; w hich 
in terest am ounting to the sum  of 20s per 
annum , is vested in the parishioners;

Thom as Papillon  was a contractor for 
the navy who bought Acrise Place. He 
was a P uritan  and  essay ist w ho 
con tested  one of D over's two 
parliam entary  seats w hen his religious 
views were out of favour. Thom as won, 
bu t the Mayor declared his opponent 
the w inner on a technicality. Thom as 
appealed, bu t his opponent was killed 
in  a naval action and Thom as was 
appointed MP in 1673, serving the town 
for 22 years. In his will of 1701 he left 
£400 'the profits from w hich were to be 
used to assist F reem en’s sons under 25 
to pay for th e ir  app ren ticesh ip  or 
setting up their own trade/ Any spare 
m oney could be used for the relief of 
the poor and aged in Dover.

A n th on y Church, by his will of 1709, 
gave £20 to produce incom e of 20s. a 
year to be distributed in bread to the 
poor on Christm as Eve.

P hilip  Papillon, by deed in  1742, gave 
land, the incom e of £17 a year was to be 
d istribu ted  to poor widows every  
Sunday in  the year. TWo jurats of the 
town were required to adm inister it.

Elisabeth Roalfe, in  h er will dated 
1777, left £400 stock w ith the incom e of 
£12 a year to be distributed to ten  poor 
fam ilies no t receiv ing  'constan t 
assistance from the parish'. The charity 
was adm inistered by six trustees.

Sarah R ice left £700 stock in  1841 w ith 
the dividends to be paid to the Mayor 
and Senior Magistrate of Dover and

spent on the purchase of coals for 
distribution at Christm as am ongst 10 
poor widows of Dover seam en.

Richard V in cen t Colem an was born  
in  1831 in the old farm house at Priory 
Farm (now Dover College). The family 
later m oved to The Shrubbery, an old 
m ansion on Crabble Hill. Richard died 
in  1909 and his will established the R.V. 
C olem an C onvalescent and  N ursing 
Hom e Trust, using rental incom e from 
the building tha t now occupies The 
Shrubbery site and investm ents. The 
Trust in 2006 spent £43,889 assisting 87 
people who were sick, convalescent, 
disabled or infirm  in Dover and the 
surrounding villages.

PS Tb com plete the picture of St. Mary's 
and St. Jam es' charities there  w ere 
others not involved w ith relieving the 
poor.

Thom as Tbke in 1484 left five acres at 
W hinless Down and  2 acres at 
Hougham  (1-97 Clarendon Place occupy 
the site) w ith the incom e for church 
repairs. The G utter H ouse Charity, 
p redating  1532, gave p ro p erty  for 
church repairs (4 Biggin Street and 10-14 
Biggin Street). The Old Vicarage Charity 
in  existence by  1656 re fe rred  to 
prem ises opposite St. Mary's Church, 
possibly an  old vicarage, w hich 
produced incom e for church purposes. 
The p ro p erty  was sold for road 
widening in  the 19th century.

Sophia Charlotte G reen-Thom pson
in 1927 left £100 to St. Jam es' Church 
provided h e r  sister's  grave was 
m aintained and Elizabeth Anne Jazzard 
left a large gift in  1942 for general 
church repairs.


